A. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

On remand for resentencing based on John Charles Thompson's 

successful personal restraint petition, the sentencing court exercised 

independent judgment. The court imposed a 60:"month firearm 

enhancement where the jury's special verdict form supported only a 24-

month deadly weapon enhancement. The issue is ripe for review and 

the enhancement should be vacated as judicial fact-finding not subject 

to harmless error review. 

B. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

Mr. Thompson's constitutional rights under the Sixth and 

Fourteenth Amendments and Article 1, sections 3, 21, and 22 were 

violated by the imposition of a sentencing enhancement not found 

beyond a reasonable doubt by a jury. 

C. ISSUE PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR 

Where a trial court exercises its independent judgment on 

remand, the decisions resulting from that exercise of judgment are 

reviewable on direct appeal. If a jury returns a deadly weapon special 

verdict, the court is bound by the state and federal constitutions only to 

impose a deadly weapon enhancement. The court cannot make its own 

finding that the deadly weapon used was a firearm and then impose a 
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firearm enhancement. Did the trial court improperly exercise its 

independent judgment on remand for resentencing by finding Mr. 

Thompson was armed with a firearm and imposing a firearm 

enhancement where the jury returned a deadly weapon special verdict 

form? 

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Thompson was convicted by a jury of murder in the first 

degree and unlawful possession of a firearm, for which he was 

sentenced in 1998 by the Honorable Ricardo Martinez. CP 7-12; CP 37 

(verdict form). By special verdict, the jury was asked to determine 

whether Mr. Thompson was armed with a deadly weapon at the time of 

commission of murder in the first degree (count I). CP 38 (special 

verdict form). The jury answered affirmatively that Mr. Thompson was 

armed with a deadly weapon. Id. The jury was not asked to specify the 

type of deadly weapon, and no special verdict regarding a firearm was 

provided. The trial court made its own finding that the deadly weapon 

was a firearm and imposed a 60-month firearm enhancement. CP 8 

(imposing 60-month enhancement). 

Mr. Thompson filed a direct appeal, in which he raised issues 

related to the trial but not sentencing. State v. Thompson, Nos. 42158-
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1-1,42619-2-1,1999 WL 730912, 97 Wn. App. 1038 (1999).1 The 

conviction was affirmed and the mandate issued in 2000. Id.; CP 14. 

In January 2011, Mr. Thompson filed a personal restraint 

petition, arguing his judgment and sentence was invalid on its face 

because the sentence imposed exceeded the standard range, even 

considering the 60-month enhancement, and there had been no basis for 

an exceptional sentence. CP 15. The State conceded the judgment and 

sentence was invalid on its face, but argued the error stemmed from the 

listing of an offender score different from what the sentencing court 

had found. Id. Further, the State conceded the proper offender score 

was lower than that imposed. CP 15-16. This Court "accept[ ed] the 

State's concession, ... and remand[ed] for resentencing." CP 16? 

The Honorable Dean S. Lum presided over Mr. Thompson's 

resentencing. 3/29113 RP 1.3 A full sentencing hearing was held, at 

which Mr. Thompson argued for an exceptional sentence below the 

I Mr. Thompson was tried with a co-defendant, Aaron Faletogo, and their 
direct appeals were consolidated. See Thompson, 1999 WL 730912, at *1. 

2 The Court denied the remainder of Mr. Thompson's petition, finding 
that on collateral review, the rule announced in State v. Williams-Walker does not 
apply retroactively to the judicial finding that Mr. Thompson was armed with a 
firearm. CP 16-17. 

3 The March 29,2013 resentencing hearing is the only date transcribed 
for this appeal, and is referred to by date. Upon Mr. Thompson's request, the 
Court of Appeals transferred the verbatim report of proceedings from his prior 
direct appeal to this case, but Mr. Thompson has not cited to those transcripts 
herein. 
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standard range based on (a) case law interpreting the state and federal 

constitutions to allow for only a 12-month enhancement on a deadly 

weaponjury finding and (b) Mr. Thompson's efforts to reform. CP 39-

54 (Thompson's presentence report and motion for exceptional 

downward sentence); 3/29/13 RP 21-22. Mr. Thompson also moved 

pro se to have the 60-month firearm enhancement stricken based on the 

intervening decisions of Blakely v. Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 303-04, 

124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004) and State v. Williams

Walker, 167 Wn.2d 889,895-86,225 P.3d 913 (2010), which prohibit a 

sentencing judge from imposing an enhancement for a firearm where 

the special jury verdict found a deadly weapon without specifying the 

type. CP 19. The State argued Mr. Thompson should be sentenced to 

the high end of the correct sentencing range, as Judge Martinez had 

imposed on the original but improper sentencing range. 3/29/13 RP 20-

21. 

On resentencing, Judge Lum sentenced Mr. Thompson to the 

middle of the standard range, departing from Judge Martinez's initial 

imposition of the high end of the range. 3/29/13 26-27; CP 8-9, 15,28, 

30. Judge Lum found anew the factual predicate for a 60-month 

firearm enhancement despite the jury's deadly weapon finding. 

4 



3/29113 RP 31; CP 28, 30. When counsel sought to clarify the record, 

the court made its finding absolutely clear: 

Mr. Yip [prosecutor]: Finally, Your Honor, just so the 
record is clear, the standard range for the underlying 
offense of murder in the first degree is 281 to 374 
months. I've indicated that the Court is ordering 350 
months plus the 60-month sentencing enhancement, 
which brings our total to 410 months. 

The Court: Yes, correct. 

Ms. Gaisford [counsel for Mr. Thompson]: And, again 
Your Honor, under special verdict, you're finding - the 
jury returned a verdict of while armed with a deadly 
weapon, and the prosecutor's checked while armed with 
a firearm. 

Mr. Yip: Your Honor, the reason it's checked armed 
with a firearm is the Court is finding that the defendant 
was armed with a firearm, hence the 60-month 
enhancement. That's why the J&S reflects firearm. 

The Court: Thank you. Your objection is noted, counsel 
[for Mr. Thompson]. 

3/29113 RP 30-31 (emphasis added). Mr. Thompson appeals following 

the resentencing. CP 35-36. 
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E. ARGUMENT 

The court lacked authority to impose a 60-month 
sentencing enhancement for a firearm where the jury 
found Mr. Thompson was armed with a deadly 
weapon, not a firearm. 

1. The firearm enhancement, as imposed here, is 
unconstitutional because it was found by a judge, not 
a jury. 

Due process requires the jury find beyond a reasonable doubt 

any fact that increases the defendant's potential punishment. U.S. 

Const. amends. VI, XIV; Alleyne v. United States, _ U.S. _, 133 S. 

Ct. 2151, 2155, 2156, 186 L. Ed. 2d 314 (2013); Blakely v. 

Washington, 542 U.S. 296, 303-04, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 

(2004); Apprendi v. New Jersey, 530 U.S. 466, 490, 120 S. Ct. 2348, 

147 L. Ed. 2d 435 (2000). This principle applies to every fact that 

increases the maximum penalty faced by the accused. Blakely, 542 

U.S. at 303; Ring v. Arizona, 536 U.S. 584,602, 122 S. Ct. 2428, 153 

L. Ed. 2d 556 (2002); Apprendi, 530 U.S. at 482-83. 

Washington's Constitution also protects these due process rights 

and provides even greater protections for jury trials than does the 

federal constitution. Const. art. I §§ 21, 22; State v. Williams-Walker, 

167 Wn.2d 889, 895-86, 225 P.3d 913 (2010); State v. Recuenco, 163 

Wn.2d 428, 440, 180 P.3d 1276 (2008) (Recuenco III). Under the 
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Washington Constitution, the sentencing court is bound by the jury's 

factual determinations. Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d at 897. The court 

cannot substitute its judgment by imposing a sentence based upon a fact 

not found by the jury, even if it is supported by the evidence presented 

at trial. Id. at 888-90. When the court does so, the error cannot be 

harmless, as it is never harmless for the court to sentence the defendant 

for a crime not found by the jury. Id. at 899-900; Recuenco III, 163 

Wn.2d at 442. 

In Recuenco III, the defendant was convicted of second degree 

assault, and the jury found by a special verdict form that he was armed 

with a deadly weapon. 163 Wn.2d at 431-32. The sentencing court, 

however, imposed a 36-month enhancement for committing a crime 

with a firearm rather than the 12-month enhancement authorized by the 

jury's deadly weapon finding. Id. The Recuenco III Court found that 

the trial court lacked authority to sentence Recuenco for the additional 

two years that corresponded to the firearm enhancement in the absence 

of a jury finding that the defendant was armed with a firearm. Id. at 

440. The Court reasoned, "The error in this case occurred when the 

trial judge imposed a sentence enhancement for something the State did 

not ask for and the jury did not find. The trial court simply exceeded 
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its authority in imposing a sentence not authorized by the charges." Id. 

at 442 (emphasis added). 

Similarly, in Williams-Walker, our Supreme Court remanded for 

resentencing where the trial court imposed a 60-month firearm 

enhancement but the jury's special verdict finding was limited to a 

deadly weapon. 167 Wn.2d at 892-93, 901. The Court noted that 

different statutory provisions govern enhancements for a firearm than 

for a deadly weapon, and different jury findings must authorize each 

enhancement. Id. at 897 (citing former RCW 9.94A.510 (2001), now 

codified at RCW 9.94A.533). Thus, "[w]here a jury finds by special 

verdict that a defendant used a 'deadly weapon' in committing the 

crime (even if that weapon was a firearm), this finding signals the trial 

judge that only a two-year 'deadly weapon' enhancement is authorized, 

not the more severe five-year firearm enhancement." Id. at 898. Put 

simply, "[w]hen the jury makes a finding on the lesser enhancement, 

the sentencing judge is bound by the jury's determination." Id. The 

Court further reasoned it was irrelevant to the constitutional analysis 

what facts inhered in the guilty verdicts as well as what the State 

charged: 

F or purposes of sentence enhancement, the sentencing 
court is bound by special verdict findings, regardless of 
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the findings implicit in the underlying guilty verdict. 
Where a firearm is used in the commission of a crime, 
the only way to determine which enhancement is 
authorized is to look at the jury's special findings. A 
sentence enhancement must not only be alleged, it also 
must be authorized by the jury in the form of a special 
verdict. 

167 Wn.2d at 900 (emphasis added). 

The Williams-Walker Court further held that harmless error 

analysis does not apply to this sentencing error. 167 Wn.2d at 901. 

"[T]he sentencing judge can know which (if any) enhancement applies 

only by looking to the jury's special findings. Where the jury makes 

such a finding, the sentencing judge is bound by that finding. Where 

the judge exceeds that authority, error occurs that can never be 

harmless." Id. at 901-02. Because the juries in each case on review 

had returned a deadly weapon special verdict, the sentencing courts 

committed constitutional error by imposing a firearm enhancement. Id. 

The Court remanded each case for resentencing. Id. at 902; see 

generally In re Pers. Restraint of Eastmond, 173 Wn.2d 632, 635-38, 

272 P.3d 188 (2012) (discussing evolution of case law). 

The case at bar is indistinguishable. The jury was provided a 

special verdict form that asked whether "John Thompson [was] armed 

with a deadly weapon at the time of the commission of the crime of 
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murder in the first degree as charged in Count I?" CP 38 (special 

verdict form). The jury answered "yes." Id. A 24-month deadly 

weapon enhancement was the only enhancement the jury's special 

verdict finding authorized the sentencing court to impose. Id.; 

Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d at 901-02. This Court should vacate the 

sentencing enhancement and remand for resentencing consistent with 

the jury's findings. See Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d at 902. 

2. The propriety of the firearm enhancement is properly 
before this Court on direct review of Mr. Thompson's 
resentencing, during which the sentencing court 
exercised discretion and found a firearm 
enhancement. 

Williams-Walker announced a new rule of criminal procedure: 

imposition of a firearm sentence enhancement where a jury has not 

found use of firearm can never be harmless. Eastmond, 173 Wn.2d at 

634, 641-42. Because this has been deemed a new rule of criminal 

procedure, this Court will not apply the rule if the sentence was final 

prior to that decision. Id. Mr. Thompson's appeal arrives in a different 

posture that requires this Court to apply the Williams- Walker rule to 

Mr. Thompson's sentence. 

In Eastmond, the petitioner's sentence had become final when 

the Court of Appeals issued its mandate on November 16,2007. 173 

10 



Wn.2d at 639. Mr. Eastmond argued in a collateral attack that his 

sentence was unconstitutional under Blakely, for example, because the 

jury finding authorized only a deadly weapon enhancement but the 

sentencing court imposed the lengthier firearm enhancement. Id. at 

639. Because the Blakely error was constitutional, it would be applied 

to the petitioner's case on collateral review. Id. However, the 

petitioner was not entitled to the procedural rule announced in 

Williams-Walker because his sentence was final when that rule was 

announced. Id. at 639-40. That petitioner would have to demonstrate 

actual prejudice from the constitutional error in enhancements. Id. at 

641. 

Here, however, Mr. Thompson's sentence is not final. Upon 

granting Mr. Thompson's personal restraint petition, this Court 

remanded Mr. Thompson's case for resentencing. CP 16. Quite 

simply, this Court ruled, "We accept the State's concession, grant the 

petition in part, and remand for resentencing." Id. The mandate does 

not limit the sentencing court's authority upon remand. CP 13-17; see 

State v. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d 28, 42, 216 P.3d 393 (2009) (trial court's 

authority on remand is limited by scope of appellate court's mandate 

and includes broad discretion where mandate is open-ended); State v. 
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Ramos, 171 Wn.2d 46,48-49,246 P.3d 811 (2011) (distinguishing 

broader remand for "resentencing" from remand involving "only a 

ministerial correction and no exercise of discretion"). 

The sentencing court below exercised its discretion when it 

resentenced Mr. Thompson at a full sentencing hearing on March 29, 

2013. At the hearing, it was noted "the Court is finding that the 

defendant was armed with a firearm, hence the 60-month enhancement. 

That's why the J&S reflects firearm." 3/29/13 RP 31 (emphasis 

added). The 2013 court found a firearm enhancement not supported by 

the jury's deadly weapon special verdict. Compare CP 38 (special 

verdict form finding a deadly weapon) with CP 28, 30 (2013 judgment 

and sentence finds and imposes firearm enhancement); 3/29/13 RP 31. 

On direct review of Mr. Thompson's 2013 resentencing, the 2010 

procedural rule from Williams-Walker must be applied. 

The trial court's exercise of independent judgment on remand 

distinguishes this case from State v. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d 28,216 P.3d 

393 (2009). On direct appeal, Mr. Kilgore won reversal of two of 

seven counts. Id. at 33-34. The State declined to retry Mr. Kilgore on 

the reversed counts and the trial court refused to resentence Kilgore, 

signing instead a motion and order correcting the original judgment and 
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sentencing by striking the two counts and correcting the offender score 

(a change that had no affect on Kilgore's presumptive sentencing 

range). Id. at 34, 41-42. Mr. Kilgore sought review of his sentence 

through a direct appeal, seeking application of Blakely to invalidate an 

exceptional sentence. Id. at 34-35. Our Supreme Court held that on 

remand the trial court simply corrected the original judgment and 

sentence; it did not revisit the exceptional sentence, although it had 

discretion to do so. Id. at 41. '''Only if the trial court, on remand, 

exercised its independent judgment, reviewed and ruled again on such 

issue does it become an appealable question.'" Id. at 37 (quoting State 

v. Barbiero, 121 Wn.2d 48,50,846 P.2d 519 (1993)) (emphasis 

added). The Court denied Kilgore's appeal because "unless the trial 

court erred or abused its discretion in declining to resentence Kilgore 

on remand ... ,no appealable issues remained." Id. at 41. 

Likewise, this case is unlike State v. Rowland, 160 Wn. App. 

316,249 P.3d 635 (2011). There, Mr. Rowland was convicted in 1991, 

which was affirmed on direct appeal and a mandate issued in 1995. 

160 Wn. App. at 319. In a 2007 personal restraint petition, this Court 

accepted the State's concession that Mr. Rowland's offender score was 

miscalculated. Id. at 319-20. On remand for resentencing, the court 
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did not reconsider the exceptional sentence imposed as part of the 

original 1991 sentence, despite Mr. Rowland's argument that Blakely 

nullified it as judicial fact-finding. Id. at 319-21. The court further 

sentenced Mr. Rowland to the high end of the new standard range 

compelled by the revised offender score; he had been sentenced to the 

high end of the range in 1991, and the court would not reconsider that 

upon resentencing. Id. at 321-22. On direct appeal from resentencing, 

this Court found that like in Kilgore, the trial court on remand simply 

corrected the judgment and sentence, which is not an appealable act of 

independent judgment. 160 Wn. App. at 324-25,328-29. 

As distinguished from Kilgore and Rowland, Mr. Thompson's 

resentencing court exercised independent judgment on remand-it 

reconsidered Mr. Thompson's entire sentence, entering a new judgment 

and sentence. See CP 7-12, 27-34. First, the court changed Mr. 

Thompson's standard range sentence by sentencing to the middle of the 

range on his corrected offender score-the original sentencing court 

had imposed the high-end of the range. 3/29113 RP 26-27; CP 28,30 

(imposing 350 months on a standard range of281 to 374 months); see 

CP 8, 9 (1998 judgment and sentence). The court did not simply 

"substitute[] the high end of one standard range for that of another." 
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Rowland, 160 Wn. App. at 329. Next, unlike Rowland, Judge Lum 

considered (and rejected) Mr. Thompson's argument for an exceptional 

sentence. Compare id. at 328 (sentencing court declined to exercise 

discretion to consider exceptional sentence) with 3/29/13 RP 25-26 

(considering but rejecting motion for exceptional sentence down). Mr. 

Thompson's sentencing court also made its own finding that Mr. 

Thompson was armed with a firearm, despite the jury's special verdict, 

which only found a deadly weapon. 3/29113 RP 31. Because the 

sentencing court took the opportunity provided by this Court's remand 

for resentencing and reconsidered the sentence in its entirety, including 

specifically the enhancement, the issue is ripe for review in this direct 

appeal. See Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d at 37. 

F. CONCLUSION 

By imposing an unauthorized enhancement, the sentencing court 

violated Mr. Thompson's constitutional right to have a jury find any 

fact that increases punishment. This Court should vacate the firearm 

enhancement and remand for resentencing consistent with the jury's 

deadly weapon finding.