NO. 70254-8-I

COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

JOHN CHARLES THOMPSON,

Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT FOR KING COUNTY

THE HONORABLE DEAN S. LUM

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

DANIEL T. SATTERBERG King County Prosecuting Attorney

MAFÉ RAJUL Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorneys for Respondent

> King County Prosecuting Attorney W554 King County Courthouse 516 3rd Avenue Seattle, Washington 98104 (206) 296-9650

A. ISSUE PRESENTED

When a defendant is sentenced based on an erroneous offender score, the appellate court may remand for resentencing on the correct standard range while leaving the remaining valid portions of the sentence intact. In this case, the court of appeals issued a mandate following Thompson's Personal Restrain Petition, ordering the trial court to resentence Thompson within the correct standard range on a lower offender score, and dismissing his claim that a 60-month firearm enhancement was invalid. The sentencing court sentenced Thompson to the middle of the range and reimposed the 60-month firearm enhancement without revisiting the underlying finding. Did the sentencing court act within the scope of the mandate and declined to exercise independent judgment as to the enhancement?

B. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In January of 1998, a jury convicted Thompson of first-degree murder while armed with a firearm and first-degree unlawful possession of a firearm. CP 7-12; CP 37. Using a special verdict form, the jury found that Thompson committed the murder while armed with a deadly weapon. CP 38.

On April 29, 1998, the Honorable Ricardo Martinez, now a Federal District Court Judge, sentenced Thompson to the high end of the standard range on each count, 388 months for first-degree murder and 41 months for first-degree unlawful possession of a firearm, to run concurrently. CP 7-12. The court also imposed a 60-month firearm enhancement on the first-degree murder conviction, for a total confinement of 448 months. CP 7-12.

Thompson filed a direct appeal claiming errors in the trial, but not challenging his sentence. In an unpublished opinion, this Court affirmed his convictions. State v. Thompson, 1999 WL 730912, 97 Wn. App. 1038 (1999). Subsequently, the Supreme Court denied his petition for review. State v. Thompson, 140 Wn.2d 1009 (2000). In January of 2011, eleven years later, Thompson filed a Personal Restraint Petition (PRP) challenging his sentence. CP 14. Thompson raised two issues: he first argued that his judgment and sentence was invalid on its face because the sentencing court exceeded its authority by imposing a sentence above the standard range; and second, he argued his 60-month enhancement was invalid under State v. Williams-Walker¹ because

¹ State v. Williams-Walker, 167 Wn.2d 889, 225 P.3d 913 (2010) (holding that the imposition of a firearm enhancement when the jury found by special verdict a deadly weapon without specifying the type is never harmless error).

the jury found by special verdict that he was armed with a deadly weapon, and not a firearm. CP 14-17.

The State conceded that the judgment and sentence was invalid on its face because of a miscalculation in Thompson's offender score. CP 14-17. This Court accepted the State's concession, and rejected Thompson's claim that his 60-month firearm enhancement was invalid. CP 14-17. This Court held that, because Thompson's sentence became final before Williams-Walker was decided, and the rule is not retroactive to cases that were not pending on direct appeal at the time it was decided, the rule did not apply to Thompson. CP 14-17. This Court also found that Thompson had not demonstrated actual prejudice. Thus, this Court denied Thompson's claim for relief with respect to the enhancement and remanded the case for resentencing based on Thompson's correct offender score. CP 14-17.

On March 29, 2013, Thompson was resentenced by the Honorable Dean Lum. RP 1-33.² At the hearing, the State asked the sentencing court to impose the high end of the range, as Judge Martinez had, plus the original 60-month firearm enhancement.

RP 6-8. Thompson's defense counsel asked the court to impose

² RP refers to the verbatim report of the resentencing hearing held on March 29, 2013.

an exceptional sentence downward. RP 9. Counsel urged the sentencing court to take into consideration the changes in the law since the time when Thompson was sentenced. RP 9. Specifically, counsel made reference to the changes in accomplice liability and the special verdict requirements. RP 9. Although acknowledging that Washington courts have ruled that Williams-Walker is not retroactive, defense counsel urged the court to take that into consideration and impose a lower sentence. RP 10, 13-14.

Judge Lum made it clear from the start that he would not revisit the jury's findings. RP 24. Judge Lum stated, "We are not here for a complete resentencing but to fix the specific error that was made by the original sentencing judge." RP 24. Judge Lum went on to say that he would impose the appropriate sentence within the correct standard range and would not change the enhancement because it was "not legally appropriate." RP 25. Judge Lum imposed a sentence within Thompson's standard range, 350 months, plus the 60-month firearm enhancement for a total confinement of 410 months. CP 27-34; RP 27, 30. The new judgment and sentence reflected the 60-month enhancement stemming from the previous firearm finding. CP 27-34.

C. ARGUMENT

Thompson contends that on remand for resentencing the court exercised independent judgment as to his entire sentence. Thus, he argues the imposition of the 60-month firearm enhancement, where the jury's special verdict supported only a 24-month deadly weapon enhancement, is subject to the Williams-Walker rule, under which the imposition of a firearm enhancement without a jury finding can never be harmless. His argument should be rejected because the sentencing court addressed only Thompson's sentence within the correct standard range and did not revisit the enhancement. Thus, the Williams-Walker rule is not applicable.

Following a remand, the sentencing court's discretion is limited by the scope of the appellate court's mandate. State v. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d 28, 42, 216 P.3d 393 (2009). If a trial court exercises no independent judgment on remand, there is no issue to review on appeal because the original judgment and sentence remains final and intact. Id. at 40. Likewise, where one portion of a sentence is found to be erroneous, that erroneous portion does not undermine the otherwise valid part of the sentence. State v. Rowland, 160 Wn. App. 316, 328, 249 P.3d 635, aff'd, 174 Wn.2d

150 (2012); State v. Barberio, 121 Wn.2d 48, 50, 846 P.2d 519 (1993) (no issue to review on appeal where resentencing court sentenced defendant to the same exceptional sentence despite his reduced offender score). In other words, if a remand for resentencing occurs due to an erroneous offender score, the trial court may resentence on the correct offender score while leaving the remaining valid portions of the sentence intact. Rowland, 160 Wn. App. at 328.

If the sentencing court simply corrects the judgment and sentence, then the court does not exercise independent judgment. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d at 40-41. The only way in which Thompson can successfully argue that the Williams-Walker rule applies is if he demonstrates that the sentencing judge exercised independent judgment and exceeded the scope of this Court's mandate by addressing the firearm enhancement anew. Given that the sentencing court did not do that, Thompson argues that this appeal arrives in a "different posture" because Thompson's entire sentence was not final at the time of resentencing. Thompson's claim is inaccurate because although the new sentencing judge had the discretion to impose a sentence within the correct standard range, the sentence on the enhancement was final.

Rowland is instructive. Rowland was convicted in 1991 of first degree murder and taking a motor vehicle without permission. Rowland, 160 Wn. App. at 319. The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of 180 months. Id. At the time of Rowland's original sentence, the law allowed the trial court to impose an exceptional sentence based on judicial fact-finding. Id. at 320. Rowland appealed his judgment and sentence, and the court of appeals affirmed in all respects, issuing a mandate on June 26, 1995. Id. at 319. In January of 2007, Rowland filed a PRP challenging his offender score. The State conceded error and this Court remanded the case for resentencing with the correct offender score, issuing its mandate in May of 2009. Id. at 319-21. At the resentencing hearing, the trial court sentenced Rowland within the correct standard range and reimposed the 180-month exceptional sentence. Id. at 321-22. Rowland appealed, arguing that the resentencing court erred in imposing the exceptional sentence based solely on judicial fact-finding, contrary to Blakely.3 Id. at 322.

This Court found that the resentencing court did not exercise independent judgment or discretion when it substituted the high end of one standard range for that of another, and reimposed the

³ <u>Blakely v. Washington</u>, 542 U.S. 296, 124 S. Ct. 2531, 159 L. Ed. 2d 403 (2004).

original exceptional sentence. <u>Id.</u> at 329. The court reasoned that, while the finality of Rowland's standard range sentence was disturbed by the court's remand for resentencing following a successful PRP, his exceptional sentence was not. <u>Id.</u> On review, the Supreme Court affirmed the sentence also concluding that the trial court had not disturbed the factual findings supporting Rowland's exceptional sentence. <u>State v. Rowland</u>, 174 Wn.2d 150, 154, 272 P.3d 242 (2012). Simply stated, his exceptional sentence was final and intact despite the change in his standard range.

This case is indistinguishable from Rowland. Thompson's 60-month enhancement was final at the time of resentencing.

When this Court remanded the case, it did so because the trial court had applied an inaccurate offender score. CP 14-17.

This Court unequivocally denied Thompson's claim that the enhancement was invalid leaving that aspect of the sentence intact. Thompson's claim that his entire sentence was not final and that the mandate does not limit the sentencing court's authority upon remand is thus contrary to controlling authority. Upon issuance of the mandate of the appellate court the decision made is effective and binding on the parties to the review and governs all subsequent

proceedings. RAP 12.2. After the mandate has issued, the trial court may, however, hear and decide postjudgment motions otherwise authorized by statute or court rule so long as those motions do not challenge issues already decided by the appellate court. RAP 12.2. Issues that were raised and affirmed on appeal are the "law of the case." State v. Harrison, 148 Wn.2d 550, 560-61, 61 P.3d 1104 (2003). Therefore, the sentencing court was bound by this Court's ruling that the firearm enhancement was properly imposed.

The issue of finality on just one portion of a sentence was also addressed in Kilgore. In that case, a jury convicted Kilgore of three counts of rape of a child and four counts of child molestation. The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of 560 months for each count, to be served concurrently. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d at 32. Kilgore appealed but did not challenge his exceptional sentence.

Id. at 34. On direct appeal, the court reversed two counts and sent the case back for retrial. The State elected not to retry the reversed counts. Id. at 32. After the mandate was issued affirming five of the counts, but before Kilgore was resentenced, the United States Supreme Court issued the Blakely decision. Id. at 34-35. At Kilgore's resentencing, he argued to the trial court that he had to be

resentenced in accordance with <u>Blakely</u>. The trial court denied his request, correcting his offender score and reimposing the exceptional sentence on the five affirmed counts. Id. at 34-35.

Kilgore appealed his resentencing, arguing that his case was not final for purposes of retroactivity and that the trial court erred when on remand it refused to resentence him under the requirements of Blakely. Id. at 33. In holding that the trial court did not err in reimposing the exceptional sentence, the Washington Supreme Court ruled that the fact that the trial court had discretion to reexamine Kilgore's sentence is not sufficient to revive his right to appeal on the portions of the sentence that were final, explaining that finality occurs whenever the availability of appeal has been exhausted. Id. at 43-44.

This case is no different from <u>Kilgore</u>. The fact that the sentencing court had discretion to determine what sentence to impose within the new, reduced standard range does not render Thompson's entire sentence not final. Thompson had already exhausted all of his available appeals on the enhancement issue. Thus, finality on his enhancement had already occurred.

Thompson suggests that the sentencing court exceeded the scope of this Court's mandate by exercising independent judgment

on the entire sentence because: the court imposed the middle of the range rather than the high end of the range as the original court had done; the court considered, and rejected, Thompson's request for an exceptional sentence; and the court made a finding anew that Thompson was armed with a firearm. His argument misstates the record.

First, the fact that the court sentenced Thompson to the middle of the range rather than the high end of the range does not mean that the court reconsidered the entire sentence. The court has discretion to resentence on remand within the limitations of the appellate court's mandate. Kilgore, 167 Wn.2d at 42. This means that the resentencing court had discretion to sentence Thompson to any time of confinement within the correct standard range. There is no authority to suggest that on remand for resentencing on a corrected offender score, the court must follow the previous sentencing decision to impose either the low end or the high end of the range.

Second, consideration of an exceptional sentence did not disturb the enhancement portion of the sentence. Defense counsel asked the sentencing court to impose an exceptional sentence down in order to circumvent this Court's ruling that Thompson's

60-month enhancement was valid. Defense urged the court to impose an exceptional sentence down in order to make up for the changes in the law, while acknowledging that Washington courts have ruled retroactivity is not applicable, explicitly referencing the Williams-Walker rule. RP 10, 13-14. Pursuant to RAP 2.5(c)(1) the trial court has discretion on remand to revisit issues that were not the subject of an earlier appeal. Barberio, 121 Wn.2d at 51. Thus, Judge Lum could have granted an exceptional sentence down, if he had the legal basis to do so, because that had never been an issue of earlier appeals. If he had done so, he would have created a new appealable issue, but only as to the imposition of the exceptional sentence. As Rowland and Kilgore establish, the enhancement would have remained intact. Nonetheless, Judge Lum made it clear he was only going to correct the mistake. He stated that there was no legal basis for the court to impose an exceptional sentence down, and he would simply sentence the defendant within the corrected standard range to fix the specific error. RP 26-27.

Lastly, the court did not make a finding anew that Thompson was armed with a firearm. Judge Lum specifically said, "We are not here for a complete resentencing but to fix the specific error that was made by the original sentencing judge." RP 24. The court

made it very clear the sentencing was not a "complete redo" but rather an appropriate sentencing within the correct standard range. RP 24-25. The court explicitly indicated that it would impose the appropriate sentence within the correct standard range and would not change the enhancement because it was "not legally appropriate." RP 25. The court pointed out that defense counsel had to concede, as she had properly done, that there was no retroactivity with respect to that issue. RP 25. Although the court was not making its own finding, it had to check a box on the judgment and sentence in order to explain the additional 60 months for the enhancement; otherwise, the judgment and sentence would have been erroneous. The colloquy between the parties when the prosecutor noted that he had checked the box that the finding was with a firearm and not with a deadly weapon, was only to reflect the accurate amount of time for the enhancement, and did not constitute a new finding by the court. Judge Lum was firm about leaving the enhancement intact. To argue that he made the firearm finding anew is contrary to the entire record.

D. CONCLUSION

The sentencing court did not exercise independent judgment deviating from this Court's mandate when it resentenced Thompson within the correct standard range on his lower offender score.

Therefore, the State respectfully asks this Court to affirm the judgment and sentence.